SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SARASOTA ALLIANCE FOR FAIR ELECTIONS, a registered Florida political action committee; KINDRA L. MUNTZ, individually; and SUSETTE BRYAN, individually,

Petitioners,

vs.

CASE NO.: SC07-2074 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 2D06-4339

FLORIDA SECRETARY OF STATE, KURT S. BROWNING, in his official capacity; KATHY DENT, as Supervisor of Elections for Sarasota County, Florida; and BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS=INITIAL BRIEF

I. STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

References to the record are indicated by (R __). References to the trial transcript are indicated by (TT __). The Petitioners will be collectively referred to as ASAFE.@The Respondents will collectively be referred to as ARespondents@, unless otherwise noted.

In 1971, the people of Sarasota County adopted a Charter and thereby became a home rule county under the provisions of the Florida Constitution. Appendix 3. Pursuant to the provisions of the Sarasota County Charter, during the summer of 2006, SAFE obtained the required number of signatures to place a proposed Charter Amendment on the ballot for the November 2006 election. The Charter Amendment (1) required Sarasota County to adopt a paper ballot voting system, (2) required limited precertification spot audits at selected precincts to ensure the voting machines are operating properly, and (3) required a comprehensive pre-certification manual audit if the spot audits indicated a discrepancy within specific thresholds. <u>See</u> Appendix 3, p. 18.

In August 2006, the Board of County Commissioners filed a pre-election suit in the Sarasota Circuit Court seeking a declaration that the proposed Charter Amendment was unconstitutional in its entirety. (R- 1). The next day, SAFE filed a mandamus action against the Board of County Commissioners (hereinafter referred to as the **A**Board@) and the Supervisor of Elections (hereinafter referred to as **A**Supervisor Dent@) seeking an Order compelling the Board and Supervisor Dent to place the proposed Charter Amendment on the November 2006 ballot. The Board eventually added the Secretary of State as a party to their suit, and the two actions were consolidated. (R 30). A non-jury trial on the suit was conducted by the Circuit Court on September 6, 2006. (TT 1-229). During the trial, the Board called Supervisor Dent as a witness. (TT 54-106). SAFE called as a witness Ion Sancho, the Supervisor of Elections for Leon County (hereinafter referred to as **A**Supervisor Sancho@). (TT 127-156). Significantly, Supervisor Dent did not testify that any portion of the Charter Amendment conflicted with state election law, nor did she testify that she could not achieve any of the requirements of the Charter Amendment without violating state law. (TT 54-106). Supervisor Dent testified that the audits described in the Charter Amendment could be achieved without violating the statutory prohibition against non-employees of the Supervisor of Elections=office touching the ballots. (TT 101).

Supervisor Sancho, testified that all of the provisions of the Charter Amendment could co-exist with all provisions of the Florida Election Code without conflict. (TT 113-114). Supervisor Sancho also testified that if Leon County had a similar charter provision, he could comply with all provisions of the Charter Amendment without violating any requirements of the Florida Election Code. (TT 121-127).

An official letter from the Secretary of State dated March 9, 2006, to the Leon County Board of County Commissioners was introduced in evidence without objection. (R 154). Contrary to the Secretary=s position on appeal, the Secretary=s letter in no uncertain terms states that the conduct of elections and selection of a voting system is exclusively a local, rather than state, responsibility.

On September 14, 2006, Circuit Judge Robert Bennett rendered a Final Judgment. (R 166); Appendix 1. The Final Judgment rejected each of the Respondents=arguments and analyzed each section of the Charter Amendment paragraph by paragraph. The Final Judgment ordered the County to place the Charter Amendment on the November 7, 2006 ballot. The Respondents did not seek a stay of the Final Judgment, and the Charter Amendment was placed on the ballot and passed by a majority of the voters of Sarasota County on November 7, 2006. The provisions of the Charter Amendment take effect January 1, 2008.

The Respondents appealed the Final Judgment to the Second District Court of Appeal. (R 253). After oral argument, the District Court issued a split decision wherein the majority found that the Florida Election Code impliedly preempted the Charter Amendment in its entirety and, in the alternative, that every provision of the Charter Amendment directly conflicted with the Florida Election Code. Appendix 2. The majority opinion concluded that the Charter Amendment was unconstitutional in its entirety and that the trial court erred when it ordered that the Charter Amendment be placed on the ballot.

In his dissenting opinion, Judge Davis opined that the trial court properly placed the Charter Amendment on the ballot and that there was an insufficient basis to conclude that the Florida Legislature intended to impliedly preempt the matters addressed by the Charter Amendment. Appendix 2, p. 30. Judge Davis also concluded that the Charter Amendment did not deal with a recount of votes and, except for minor provisions, otherwise did not conflict with the Florida Election Code.

The following question was certified by the District Court as being of great public

importance:

IS THE LEGISLATIVE SCHEME OF THE FLORIDA ELECTION CODE SUFFICIENTLY PERVASIVE, AND ARE THE PUBLIC POLICY REASONS SUFFICIENTLY STRONG, TO FIND THAT THE FIELD OF ELECTIONS LAW HAS BEEN PREEMPTED, PRECLUDING LOCAL LAWS REGARDING THE COUNTING, RECOUNTING, AUDITING, CANVASSING, AND CERTIFICATION OF VOTES?

This Court accepted jurisdiction to review the decision of the District Court

pursuant to Article V, 4(b)(4) of the Florida Constitution.

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Implied preemption of the ability of a home rule county to select an approved paper ballot voting system and to conduct audits to confirm proper operation of the system cannot be supported on any basis. The issue of implied preemption must be analyzed within the context of Chapter 101, Florida Statutes, which addresses voting methods and procedures, and which in fact recognizes the existence of local authority in this area. The conclusion of the majority opinion that the election statutes impliedly preempt the entire Charter Amendment runs counter to the affirmative recognition of local authority described in the statutes.

Merely because the legislature has described an option of the legislature to conduct an audit does not and cannot mean that the legislature intended to prohibit charter counties from conducting any audit whatsoever, especially the limited audit described in the Charter Amendment which simply ensures that the voting machines are operating correctly. The post-certification audit described in the latest revision to the statutes neither preempts nor conflicts with the pre-certification audit described in the Charter Amendment.

The conduct of elections, and in particular the selection and administration of voting systems, has traditionally been left to local governments. Time and time again, the legislature has had the opportunity to express an intent to preempt the areas of election law addressed by the Charter Amendment, which historically has been left to local government, but the legislature has chosen not to do so. Given the recent history of elections in Florida, the fact that the legislature did not expressly preempt local authority clearly indicates that they intended to leave such authority intact. Therefore, the majority opinion=s imputation of such intent to conclude the Charter Amendment is impliedly preempted is unwarranted. Any debate over the wisdom of Florida=s decentralized system of selecting voting systems and administering elections needs to occur in the chambers of the legislature, not in the courtrooms.

The majority opinion did not find that Section 6.2A of the Charter Amendment conflicts with state law, but rather noted that because of the enactment of Chapter 2007-30, Laws of Florida, the paper ballots required by the Charter Amendment are now required state-wide. This, if anything, is a finding of consistency, rather than conflict.

Section 6.2B of the Charter Amendment merely requires pre-certification spot audits of selected precincts in order to ensure that the voting machines are operating properly. These limited audits are not official vote counts or re-counts and in no way determine the outcome of any race.

The majority opinion finds that Section 6.2C of the Charter Amendment directly conflicts with the election statutes because it **A**seems to be in tension@with various filing deadlines in the statutes. However, a comparison of the audit timeframe in Section 6.2C of the Charter Amendment and the filing timeframes in the statutes indicates that there is no conflict.

Finally, should any provision of the Charter Amendment be impliedly preempted or in direct conflict with state law, that provision can and should be severed as required by the Sarasota County Charter. The majority opinion=s finding that the issue of severance was **A**moot@ because the Charter Amendment was approved by the electorate is erroneous.

III. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. THE ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT AND STANDARD OF REVIEW.

This case involves a pre-election challenge to the constitutionality of a Charter Amendment. Pre-election challenges are limited in scope. The standard applied when evaluating a pre-election challenge, as stated by this Court in <u>Dade County v. Dade</u> County League of Municipalities, 104 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1958), is

[W]hether the proposal in its entirety contravenes [state law]. . . . [t]he courts will not interfere if upon ultimate approval by the electorate such proposal can have a valid field of operation even though segments of the proposal or its subsequent applicability to particular situations might result in contravening the organic law. <u>Id.</u> at 515.

Once a court determines that a proposed charter amendment is not invalid in its entirety, or if it becomes apparent that a challenge is only a piecemeal attack on the proposed amendment, the proposal must be submitted to a vote of the people. <u>Rivergate</u>

Rest. Corp. v. Metro. Dade County, 369 So. 2d 679, 683 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979).

Judge Davis appropriately states, in his dissenting opinion below, that the issue before the trial court, and therefore before the District Court, was Avery simply whether any part of the proposed amendment was constitutional. If any portion of the amendment was constitutional, the trial court was correct in allowing the entire amendment to be placed on the ballot.@ Appendix 2, p. 29 (citing to <u>Citizens for</u>

Responsible Growth v. City of St. Pete Beach, 940 So. 2d 1144, 1146 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006)).

To conclude that the Charter Amendment is unconstitutional in its entirety, this Court must either find: (1) that the legislature has completely preempted the area of law addressed by the Charter Amendment, or (2) that all provisions of the Charter Amendment directly conflict with a state statute. <u>Tallahassee Mem= Reg= Ctr., Inc. v.</u> <u>Tallahassee Med. Ctr., Inc., 681 So. 2d 826, 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996).</u>

The legal questions concerning implied preemption and conflict are subject to *de novo* review. The facts which support the trial court=s determination that the Charter Amendment does not conflict with the election statutes are reviewed based upon the competent, substantial evidence standard. <u>See St. Vincent=s Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Mem=</u> <u>Healthcare Group, Inc., 967 So. 2d 794, 799 (Fla. 2007).</u>

The overriding principle to be applied by the court in reviewing the constitutionality of the Charter Amendment is that **A**all political power is inherent in the people and that we must, if possible, interpret the amendment as constitutional.[@] <u>Citizens for Responsible</u> <u>Growth v. City of St. Pete Beach</u>, 940 So. 2d 1144, 1146 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006). This Court must apply the presumption that the Charter Amendment is valid, even though a lower court has declared it unconstitutional. <u>St. Vincent=s Med. Ctr, Inc.</u>, 967 So. 2d at 799 (Fla. 2007).

B. THE POWER OF THE PEOPLE AND COUNTY HOME RULE AUTHORITY.

The Florida Constitution recognizes that all political power belongs to the people of the state. Article I, section 1 of the Declaration of Rights of the Florida Constitution states:

SECTION 1. Political Power. **B** All political power is inherent in the people. The enunciation herein of certain rights shall not be construed to deny or impair others retained by the people.

As such, **A**[t]here is no limitation in the Florida Constitution as to subject matter in the legislative realm which is inappropriate for referenda.[@] <u>City of Winter Springs v. Florida</u> <u>Land Co.</u>, 413 So. 2d 84, 87 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982).

When the Florida Constitution was amended in 1968, counties were divided into two categories: charter counties and non-charter counties. Non-charter counties Ahave such power of self-government as is provided by general or special law.@ FLA. CONST. art. VIII, ' 1 (f). Charter counties, however, Ahave all powers of local self-government not inconsistent with general law, or with special law approved by vote of the electors.@ FLA. CONST. art. VIII, ' 1 (g). Sarasota County became a charter county in 1971.

The Florida Supreme Court has Abroadly interpreted the self-governing powers granted charter counties under article VIII, section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution.@<u>State</u> <u>v. Broward County</u>, 468 So.2d 965, 969 (Fla. 1985). Given that the constitution prohibits only inconsistent home rule laws, it is debatable whether the doctrine of implied

preemption should be applied to laws of home rule counties: **A**The people have said that charter county government shall have all the powers of local government unless the state government takes affirmative steps to preempt local legislation.^(a) <u>Hollywood, Inc. v.</u> <u>Broward County</u>, 431 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). In any event, **A**[t]he courts should be careful in imputing an intent on behalf of the Legislature to preclude a local elected governing body from exercising its home rule powers.^(a) <u>Lowe v. Broward Co.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1199, 1207 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000).

The concept of home rule envisions the possibility that state and local government will properly legislate concurrently in the same area. See City of Hollywood v. Mulligan, 934 So. 2d 1238, 1243 (Fla. 2006). The Florida Supreme Court has construed the phrase **A**inconsistent with general law@ in article VIII, section 1(g) of the Florida Constitution to mean **A**contradictory in the sense of legislative provisions which cannot co-exist.@ <u>State v.</u> <u>Sarasota County</u>, 549 So. 2d 659, 660 (Fla. 1989). In analyzing whether the entire Charter Amendment is unconstitutional due to conflict with the election statutes, a finding of duplication is not enough. One must instead find that all of the provisions of the Charter Amendment contradict and cannot co-exist with the statutes. <u>Id.</u>; <u>Boven v. City of St. Petersburg</u>, 73 So. 2d 232, 234 (Fla. 1954) (holding that a local enactment is not void unless it is in direct conflict with state law).

C. THE FLORIDA LEGISLATURE DID NOT EXPRESSLY OR IMPLIEDLY PREEMPT THE MATTERS ADDRESSED IN THE CHARTER AMENDMENT.

1. There is no express preemption of the Charter Amendment in the Florida Election Code.

To find express preemption, there must be specific language preempting the particular subject at issue. <u>Santa Rosa County v. Gulf Power Co.</u>, 635 So. 2d 96, 101 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). There is no such express preemption language in the election statutes. As such, the trial court and the District Court properly found that express preemption does not apply.

2. The Florida Election Code does not impliedly preempt the Charter Amendment.

Implied preemption of the ability of a home rule county to select an approved paper ballot voting system and to conduct audits to confirm the proper operation of the system cannot be supported on any basis.

The Sarasota County Charter Amendment approved by the voters in this case (1) requires Sarasota County to adopt a paper ballot voting system, (2) requires limited pre-certification spot audits at selected precincts to ensure the voting machines are operating properly, and (3) requires a comprehensive pre-certification manual audit if the spot audits indicate a discrepancy within specific thresholds. <u>See</u> Appendix 3, p. 18-19.

Implied preemption is not favored in Florida. <u>Kligfeld v. State, Office of Fin.</u> <u>Regulation</u>, 876 So. 2d 36, 38 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). As a judicially imposed doctrine, implied preemption may only be applied under circumstances where **A**the legislative scheme is so pervasive as to evidence an intent to preempt the particular area, and where strong public policy reasons exist for finding such an area to be preempted by the Legislature.@ <u>Tallahassee Mem= Reg= Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Tallahassee Med. Ctr., Inc., 681</u> So. 2d 826, 831 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). If a court imposes implied preemption, it must be applied as narrowly as possible. <u>See Phantom of Clearwater, Inc. v. Pinellas County</u>, 894 So. 2d 1011, 1019 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005).

3. There is no pervasive statutory scheme sufficient to evidence an intent to preempt the Charter Amendment.

In finding that the Charter Amendment was impliedly preempted, the majority opinion appears to have been distracted by the size of the Florida Election Code, citing the ten chapters and 125 pages as evidence of a pervasive statutory scheme. ¹ The Election Code, however, addresses matters far beyond the limited scope of the Charter

¹ To the extent as found by the majority opinion that the length of a statute is relevant in an implied preemption analysis, it is interesting to note that the District Court found that the 118 pages of Chapter 163 did not impliedly preempt the Charter Amendment in <u>Citizens for Responsible Growth v. City of St. Pete Beach</u>, 940 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), but that the 125 pages of the Election Code preempted the Charter Amendment *sub judice*.

Amendment, such as campaign financing and registration of voters, political parties, and candidates.

Many Florida courts have evaluated whether statutes which extensively regulate a particular area impliedly preempt local law in the same area. For example, the court, in Citizens for Responsible Growth v. City of St. Pete Beach, 940 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006), held that the provisions of Chapter 163, Florida Statutes, which govern growth policy and local land planning, did not impliedly preempt home rule charter amendments dealing with the same subject. In Lowe v. Broward County, 766 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), cert. denied, 789 So. 2d 346 (Fla. 2001), the court held that a home rule county ordinance that created the status of domestic partnership was not impliedly preempted by statutes prohibiting recognition of same sex marriage and regulating domestic relations. In Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, Inc. v. Tallahassee Medical Center, Inc., 681 So. 2d 826 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), the court evaluated a county ordinance which imposed a funding scheme for ambulance services and concluded that the ordinance was not impliedly preempted by the extensive ambulance regulatory and licensing system established in statutes. The court, in Hillsborough County vs. Florida Restaurant Ass=n., 603 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), rejected the argument that a local ordinance requiring posting of warning signs in establishments serving alcohol was impliedly preempted by statutes that extensively regulate the field of alcoholic beverages. Id. at 591. In rejecting the application of

implied preemption, the court held that the description in the statutes of local authority addressing hours, location and operation of bars, etc., indicated that the legislature did not intend to completely regulate the field to the exclusion of local authority. Id.

In the case *sub judice*, the issue of preemption must be analyzed in the context of Chapter 101, Florida Statutes, which addresses voting methods and procedures, and which in fact confirms the existence of local authority in this area. In F.S. 101.5604 (2001), the Legislature describes the authority of a county governing body to adopt a **A**voting system. e^2

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