SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SARASOTA ALLIANCE FOR FAIR ELECTIONS, et al.,

Petitioners,

Case No.: SC07-2074

v.

L.T. No.: 2D06-4339

FLORIDA SECRETARY OF STATE KURT S. BROWNING, in his official capacity, et al.,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT, BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS OF

SARASOTA COUNTY, FLORIDA'S ANSWER BRIEF

STEPHEN E. DE MARSH, County Attorney FREDERICK J. ELBRECHT, Deputy County Attorney SCOTT T. BOSSARD, Assistant County Attorney 1660 Ringling Boulevard, Second Floor Sarasota, Florida 34236 Telephone: (941) 861-7272 Facsimile: (941) 861-7267 Attorneys for Respondent, Board of County Commissioners of Sarasota County, Florida

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Initially, the Second District correctly concluded the SAFE Amendment is unconstitutional in its entirety because the SAFE Amendment would have the County regulate in an area in which the state has impliedly pre-empted local legislation; the regulation of elections. In the Florida Election Code and Division of Elections Rules, the state legislature has completely "occupied the field" of election regulation with an exhaustive set of laws and rules. Coupled with compelling public policy reasons and an express purpose to preserve uniformity in its application, it does not follow that the state would permit local governments to craft their own unique local election codes, thereby undermining the state's express purpose of preserving uniformity in election law.

Additionally, the Second District correctly concluded the last two subsections of the SAFE Amendment are unconstitutional because compliance with those subsections of the SAFE Amendment requires a violation of state law or vice-versa, thereby creating an unconstitutional conflict between state law and local regulation. Accordingly, because those subsections cannot co-exist with state election law, the last two subsections of the SAFE Amendment must fail.

Thus, as will be shown, because portions of the SAFE Amendment implicate subjects that are pre-empted to the state for regulation or, alternatively, are in conflict with existing state law, the SAFE Amendment is unconstitutional.

Accordingly, the certified question should be answered in the affirmative and the majority opinion below otherwise affirmed because election regulation is impliedly pre-empted to the state and because the SAFE Amendment conflicts with state law to the extent that compliance with one results in violation of the other.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Having accepted jurisdiction of a decision of the Second District Court of Appeals that certified a question of great public importance, this Court's review is not limited to review of that question, but allows review of the Second District's decision for any alleged error. *See Leisure Resorts, Inc. v. Frank J. Rooney, Inc.*, 654 So. 2d 911, 912 (Fla. 1995).

The order reviewed by the Second District was a final order from a declaratory judgment action. Such orders are generally accorded a presumption of correctness on appellate review. *See Reform Party of Florida v. Black*, 885 So. 2d 303, 310 (Fla. 2004); *see also Collier v. Parker*, 794 So. 2d 616 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001). However, this Court has instructed, "to the extent that the decision rests on a question of law, the order is subject to full, or *de novo*, review on appeal." *Reform Party* at 310, citing *Smith v. Coalition to Reduce Class Size & Pre-K Comm.*, 827 So. 2d 959, 961 (Fla. 2002) and *Sancho v. Smith*, 830 So. 2d 856, 861 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002); *see also Collier*, 794 So. 2d at 618.

Specifically, the determination of the constitutionality of a proposed amendment to a county charter is subject to *de novo* review. *See Citizens for Reform v. Citizens for Open Government, Inc.*, 931 So. 2d 977 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). At bar, the declaration sought by the County was one addressing that very question of law, i.e., a declaration as to the constitutionality of the SAFE Amendment. Thus, because the decision below rests on conclusions of hw as to the constitutionality of the SAFE Amendment, this Court may, under *Reform Party, Citizens for Reform* and *Leisure Resorts*, review the decision below *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

I. THE CERTIFIED QUESTION SHOULD BE ANSWERED IN THE AFFIRMATIVE AND THE DECISION BELOW AFFIRMED BECAUSE THE SAFE AMENDMENT REGULATES IN AN AREA IN WHICH THE STATE HAS PRE-EMPTED LOCAL LEGISLATION AND IS THEREFORE UNCONSTITUTIONAL IN ITS ENTIRETY.

The certified question should be answered in the affirmative and the majority opinion below affirmed because the majority below correctly concluded the SAFE Amendment is unconstitutional in its entirety. As will be shown, the Second District correctly concluded the SAFE Amendment initially fails because it would have the County regulate in an area in which the state has pre-empted local legislation; the regulation of elections.

The County adopts those portions of the brief of the State addressing this issue, briefly supplemented as follows:

The majority below correctly observed that, aside from the limited instances where local discretion is expressly provided within parameters set by the state, it is clear that the who, what, where and when of Florida elections are explicitly, exhaustively and exclusively set forth by state law **h**rough the Florida Election Code and Division of Elections Rules.² *See Browning*, 968 So. 2d at 646.

² Indeed, after reviewing the regulatory reach of the Florida Election Code into "every aspect of the electoral process," the majority opinion below expressed surprise that the Florida Election Code did not include *express* pre-emption language. *See Browning*, 968 So. 2d at 643-646.

In their brief, SAFE surmises that the majority's conclusion below was unduly influenced by the mere number of pages devoted to the Florida Election Code. *See* SAFE Brief at 13-14. However, a careful review of the majority opinion reveals that the nature of the regulated activity, not merely the number of pages devoted to the regulated activity, was the key consideration. The majority below distinguished issues like fireworks sales and sand dune rehabilitation, which can present different issues for differently sized and situated communities, from elections. *See Browning*, 968 So. 2d at 646.

In elections, extensive state and federal regulation and case law underscore the necessity of having one vote in one community be received and counted in the same manner as any other vote is received and counted in another community anywhere in the state, and in national elections, anywhere in the nation. Thus, any purported need for special local election regulation rings hollow where the law expects all votes to be handled in a particular manner, regardless of the size or setting of the community where each vote is cast.

Thus, the majority below aptly recognized the uniformity uniquely required in election law. Indeed, as Respondents demonstrated below, the Florida Election Code establishes the Secretary of State as the state's chief election officer, and includes among the Secretary's extensive set of powers and duties the following: obtain and maintain *uniformity* in the application, operation and interpretation of

the election laws; and provide *uniform* standards for the proper and equitable implementation of the registration laws. *See* § 97.012, Fla. Stat. (2006).

Additionally, the majority below appropriately recognized that the position of the Secretary of State, who is charged with administering the Florida Election Code, is entitled to great weight. *See Browning*, 968 So. 2d 648. As shown, both below and before this Court, the State's position is that election law is a vital subject where uniformity is of paramount importance, and one where implied preemption should apply.

Thus, in light of the breadth and depth of the Florida Election Code and Division of Elections Rules, the question becomes if a system that has uniformity as its express purpose, where the goal is for all votes to have equal effect regardless of where that vote is cast, and is pervasive, detailed, and affects such a fundamental aspect of the functioning of the state's political institutions fails to meet the criteria for implied pre-emption, can any statutory or regulatory system be considered so pervasive and fully occupying of the field to be found b establish implied pre-emption? Indeed, if the state's election law fails to establish implied pre-emption, implied pre-emption effectively becomes a legal fiction, and nothing short of express pre-emption will suffice.

However, if the concept of implied pre-emption is to be given effect, as the majority below correctly recognized it should, the state's election law is precisely

the type of regulatory scheme representative of the type contemplated when the current concept of implied pre-emption developed. *See Phantom of Clearwater, Inc. v. Pinellas County*, 894 So. 2d 1011 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005).

Thus, the state's election code and regulations completely occupy the field of election law. Moreover, the office charged with administering the state's election code acknowledges its vital purpose in maintaining uniformity. Lastly, the need for uniformity is underscored by the nature of elections, which aspire to the well established one person, one vote standard regardless of the size or setting of the community where each vote is cast.

Accordingly, because the SAFE Amendment encroaches upon an area of law pre-empted to the state, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and otherwise affirm the majority opinion below.

II. THE DECISION BELOW CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE SAFE AMENDMENT IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL BECAUSE IT IS IN CONFLICT WITH THE FLORIDA ELECTION CODE.

In addition to pre-emption, the majority below correctly held the SAFE Amendment is unconstitutional because compliance with the last two subsections of the SAFE Amendment requires a violation of state law or vice-versa, thereby creating an unconstitutional conflict between state law and local regulation. *See Browning*, 968 So. 2d at 649-653. Accordingly, because the last two subsections of the SAFE Amendment cannot co-exist with state election law, the SAFE Amendment must fail for this mutually exclusive reason, and this Court should affirm the decision below.

Article VIII, § 1(g) of the Florida Constitution describes the home rule powers of charter counties, like Sarasota County, relative to state authority, as follows:

Charter government. Counties operating under county charters shall have all powers of local self-government **not inconsistent with general law**, or with special law approved by vote of the electors. The governing body of a county operating under a charter may enact county ordinances **not inconsistent with general law**. The charter shall provide which shall prevail in the event of a conflict between county and municipal ordinances.

See Art. VIII, § 1(g), Fla. Const. (emphasis added); *see also Cook v. City of Jacksonville*, 823 So. 2d 86 (Fla. 2002)(discussing county home rule powers). Florida courts have consistently interpreted Article VIII, § 1(g) as permitting counties to exercise home rule power or to produce local legislation so long as the exercise of local authority can coexist with existing state law, i.e. so long as compliance with local law does not cause violation of a state law, or vice-versa. *See, e.g., Hillsborough County v. Florida Restaurant Ass'n, Inc.*, 603 So. 2d 587 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992); *see also F.Y.I. Adventures, Inc. v. City of Ocala*, 698 So. 2d 583 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997); *see also Phantom of Clearwater*.

Indeed, the test is "whether one must violate one provision in order to comply with the other." *Lowe v. Broward County*, 766 So. 2d 1199 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000), citing *Jordan Chapel Freewill Baptist Church v. Dade County*, 334 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976). Thus, local legislation that "supplements a statute's restriction of rights may coexist with that statute, whereas an ordinance which countermands rights provided by statute must fail." *See City of Miami Beach v. Rocio Corp.*, 404 So. 2d 1066, 1070 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); *see also Metro. Dade County v. Chase Fed. Housing Corp.*, 737 So. 2d 494 (Fla. 1999).

Accordingly, review of the SAFE Amendment requires a determination of whether the County must violate state law in order to comply with the SAFE Amendment or vice-versa. As will be shown, compliance with one requires a violation of the other, and accordingly, the conflicting subsections of the measure cannot co-exist with state election law, and must fail.

1) Subsection 6.2A

As the majority below acknowledges, the chief issue addressed in Subsection 6.2A, the requirement of having a voter verified paper ballot, has been addressed by the state legislature. With the enactment of Chapter 2007-30, Laws of Florida, the state legislature required that all voting in Florida must be on paper ballot, effective July 1, 2008.

The County, throughout this action has recognized the importance of fostering voter confidence in the machines used to record and tabulate votes, and submits to this Court that the County recognizes the state legislature has acted in furtherance of those interests in legislating a paper ballot requirement for all future elections in Florida, which, in turn, renders any discussion of the propriety of one type of voting system over another as moot.

Indeed, in the lower courts, the County has consistently indicated it would not argue for or against the use of any type of voting machine. Rather, the County's focus in this brief continues to be on those parts of the SAFE Amendment, the second and third subsections, that address the methods in which votes are to be counted and recounted and in which voting machines are to be audited.

Notably, the majority below observed that the state legislature's taking the initiative and addressing the same issue as Subsection 6.2A of the SAFE Amendment provides further support for the pre-emption of election regulation to the state. Indeed, the selection of voting systems and technology, while a local decision, is a decision that is made within the field of choices established solely by the state. *See* §§ 101.5604-101.5606, Fla. Stat. (2007). Thus, because the state has legislated on the same subject, Subsection 6.2A is reduced to redundant, surplus language having no legal effect.

2) Subsection 6.2B

Subsection 6.2B provides for independent audits and audit procedures, which the majority below correctly recognized presented significant conflicts with state law, focusing on the exercise of powers not statutorily granted to counties and county officials and the compromising of ballot security, a paramount concern of the Florida Election Code and Division of Elections Rules. The initial clause of Subsection 6.2B introduces the conflicts.

<u>SAFE Amendment</u>: In addition to Voting System Audits allowed in F.S. 101.591, the Sarasota County Supervisor of Elections shall provide for mandatory, independent, random audits of the voting system in Sarasota County.

<u>Amended Florida Election Code</u>: Immediately following the certification of each election, the county canvassing board or the local board responsible for certifying the election shall conduct a manual audit of the voting systems used in randomly selected precincts. *See* § 8, Chapter 2007-30, Laws of Florida, effective July 1, 2008.

As was the case with Subsection 6.2A of the SAFE Amendment, the state

legislature has acted on its own initiative and amended Section 101.591 to include mandatory audits, a subject addressed in Subsection 6.2B of the SAFE Amendment. Two significant differences between the amended Section 101.591 and the SAFE Amendment are when the audits are to be conducted and by whom.

The audits under the amended Section 101.591 are to be conducted *after* the certification of election results, and are to be conducted by the same local canvassing board that certified the election results. Subsection 6.2B of the SAFE

Amendment requires pre-certification audits performed by an independent auditing body. Thus, the SAFE Amendment endeavors to regulate an issue that the state legislature has squarely addressed with recent legislation, which raises a central issue relative to conflict; the ability of local government to regulate on the same issue where the state has enacted legislation addressing that issue.

It is a well established rule of statutory construction that "when a law expressly describes the particular situation in which something should apply, an inference must be drawn that what is not included by specific reference was intended to be omitted or excluded." *See Gay v. Singletary*, 700 So. 2d 1220, 1221 (Fla. 1997) ("under the principle of statutory construction *expressio unius est exclusio alterius* the mention of one thing implies the exclusion of another); *see also Moonlit Waters Apts., Inc. v. Cauley*, 666 So. 2d 898, 900 (Fla. 1996).

Here, the amended Section 101.591 expressly and *exclusively* provides the state legislature with the authority to require local canvassing boards to conduct the post-certification audit of voting systems.³ The SAFE Amendment characterizes the authorization to conduct audits as in addition to those permitted by state law, but Section 101.591 only authorizes the state legislature to provide for such audits.

³ Similarly, the soon to be former Section 101.591 expressly and *exclusively* provides the state legislature with the discretion to provide for the independent audit of voting systems.

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